SNOW REDISTRIBUTION AND SOIL WATER STORAGE AS IMPACT BY SURFACE RESIDUE CONDITIONS

By

HANXUE QIU

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE in BIOLOGICAL AND AGRICULTURAL ENGINEERING

WASHINGTON STATE UNIVERSITY Department of Biological Systems Engineering

DECEMBER 2008

To the Faculty of Washington State University:

The members of the Committee appointed to examine the thesis of HANXUE QIU find it satisfactory and recommend that it be accepted.

Chair

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This thesis is part of a comprehensive research on winter hydrology as impacted by agricultural management practices in the inland US Pacific Northwest. I am honored to have had the opportunity to work with a group of accomplished scientists with diverse expertise and numerous dedicated colleagues. In the course of this study I have grown considerably as a professional. I am grateful to all the people who have worked with and supported me.

I express my deep gratitude to my committee chair, Dr. Joan Wu, for her consistent support, encouragement, patience, and supervision. The field survey involved in this thesis study was carried out in the abnormally stormy and cold winter of 2007, but I found no lack of inspiration to work in the heavy snow owing to Dr. Wu's passion for winter hydrology research. Every bit of progress of mankind has resulted from strong determination and years of effort, and Dr. Wu has made me believe that hard work is always rewarding.

I gratefully acknowledge Drs. Donald K. McCool and Markus Flury. They have supported me generously in various ways in this study. As a veteran in the field of soil and water engineering, Dr. McCool's invaluable input and insightful suggestions helped me tremendously in field work and result analysis. He also directed me to numerous resources for field work, which I would otherwise have taken much longer to discover. Dr. Flury has been instrumental to the success of this thesis as he always reacted promptly to my questions and inquiries. Meanwhile he always emphasized "big-picture" while being attentive to details, which has helped strengthen the logic and rigor of the thesis study.

I thank Dr. David R. Huggins and Dr. Michael E. Barber for their profound and valuable guidance. Their stressing of the novelty and originality of scientific research has

iii

nourished me throughout the process. Their insightful vision in agricultural and environmental engineering has stimulated me to view scientific problems more comprehensively, which will benefit me for a long time to come.

Special thanks go to Shawn Wetterau and Dave Uberuaga. I am indebted to them for their valuable instructions in operating field equipment, navigating survey devices, and conducting lab analysis. They also work extensively with me in the snow survey and soil water sampling. When the All-Terrain-Vehicle stopped running in the deep snow, it was their confidence and courage that inspired me to finish the field work. Without their selfless help this thesis would have never been completed.

I thank John Morse and Jon Mathison for sharing with me their field equipment and tools. John taught me how to handle an old blue Suburban in the most patient and friendly manner; when the Suburban became stuck in a heavy wind and snow storm, it was Bill Bowe and Roger Nelson who came to the rescue.

I am grateful to my colleagues, Prabhakar Singh, Li Wang, Xiangdong Liu, Shuhui Dun, and Jun Zhou for their assistance in field work. Every bit of help has been critical towards the completion of this work. The spirit of teamwork that I have experienced during this thesis study will be cherished for the rest of my life.

My deep appreciation goes to my wife, Xia Zhou. As a research scientist herself, she has been extremely supportive of my thesis work with enormous understanding and unconditional love. She took over much of my family duty when I was in the field and in my office after work hours. I also thank my son Jack for his love, understanding, and encouragement. He once challenged me to get A's in my course work and promised to get an A for his own middle school science project in return. I knew he would get an A regardless but I took his challenge seriously and poured additional efforts into my own course work and research. My young son Lucas had always been a source of joy and happiness during the period of my graduate study. Each time when I came back from work he would greet me with a loud salutation, a big hug, and a sunny smile, which

iv

always refreshed and energized me. My family has been a source of care, love and support, and because of them, the journey of this thesis research was filled with unforgettable and precious moments.

SNOW REDISTRIBUTION AND SOIL WATER STORAGE AS IMPACTED BY SURFACE RESIDUE CONDITIONS

Abstract

by Hanxue Qiu, M.S. Washington State University December 2008

Chair: Joan Q. Wu

Water availability is a major limiting factor affecting agricultural productivity especially for the dryland farming regions of the Great Plains and the Pacific Northwest (PNW). Studies show that no-tillage (NT) practices result in more soil water storage by retaining more snow in stubble, enhancing infiltration and reducing evaporation in areas where winter is the primary recharge season, whereas conventional tillage (CT) practices result in considerable redistribution of precipitation with elevated surface runoff. We hypothesize that the residue effects on precipitation redistribution also affects the spatial variation of soil water. Studies show that spatial variation of available soil water has important environmental and economic effects and implications by affecting crop yield and quality and effective fertilization recommendation. Our objectives were to evaluate residue effects on snow redistribution and the spatial variation of soil water in the Palouse area of the PNW. Two side-by-side farms near Pullman, WA, one under NT, the other under CT, were surveyed for snow depth, snow water equivalent (SWE), and resultant soil water storage during the winter season of 2007–2008. Results indicated that snow pack on average was distributed more evenly and had less spatial variation under NT. Compared to CT, NT retained 10-20 cm more snow by its standing residue at the ridge

vi

top for the events surveyed. Snow water equivalents followed the same pattern of larger spatial variation in CT. The resultant soil water in the spring was the lowest at the ridge top areas, and highest at valleys in both treatments. However, under CT, soil water at the ridge top area was 6% less than, and in valleys 17% more than, the average over the whole treatment. Such variation was much smaller in NT where soil water at the ridge top was only 4% less than, and in valleys 6% more than, the average. Although many factors may have contributed to the spatial variation of soil water, residues under NT retarded the generation of runoff, retained more snow at the ridge top and steep-sloped areas, and likely reduced the soil water spatial variation.

Keywords: Snow drifting, snow-holding capacity, snow water equivalent (SWE), soil water storage, standing stubble, no-tillage, conventional tillage

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iii
ABSTRACTvi
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF FIGURES
1. INTRODUCTION
2. METHODOLOGY4
Site description4
Field snow monitoring and sampling5
Residue measurement7
Soil water content sampling7
Statistics analysis
3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
Snow depth and snow redistribution
Snow holding capacity10
Snow density and snow water equivalent (SWE)11
Soil water and spatial variation
4. CONCLUSIONS14
5. REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Snow depth (cm) observed on the NT (CAF) and the CT (Clark Farm) and statistical	
	tests	2
2.	The range and mean of snow pack density $(g \text{ cm}^{-3})$ at different topographical	
	locations of the NT (CAF) and CT (Clark Farm) treatments	;
3.	Snow water equivalent (SWE, cm) at different topographical locations of the NT	
	(CAF) and CT (Clark Farm) treatments	ł
4.	Gravimetric soil water in top 1.5 m soil and its spatial variations among different	
	topographical locations under NT (CAF) and CT (Clark Farm) treatments2	5

LIST OF FIGURES

1.	The snow survey areas and route at the NT (CAF) and CT (Clark Farm), Pullman,
	WA. The topographic contour interval is 2 m
2.	Major snow-on-ground events in Palouse area (based on NCDC station # 456789,
	Pullman 2NW) and 11 field snow surveys of this study at CAF and Clark Farms,
	Pullman, WA, First and second survey were done for the larger domain. Third was
	for the ridge top route, and 4–11th were for the two smaller areas
3.	Snow depth on Jan. 10 2008 in NT (CAF) and CT (Clark Farm), classified with mean
	$(25.1 \text{ cm}) \pm 0.5, 1.5, 2.5 \dots$ times of standard deviation (15.6 cm). The insert is the
	windrose based on data for Jan. 6-10, 2008 from the weather station installed at the
	CAF
4.	Average snow depth observed during Jan. 29-Feb. 14, 2008 (a) under CT (Clark
	Farm), (b) under NT (CAF), (c) Departure of snow depth at ridge top and valley from
	the average for CT, (d) Departure of snow depth at ridge top and valley from the
	average for NT
5.	Snow depth observed at (a) ridge top route on Jan. 15, 2008, and (b) different
	subsections on Jan. 10, 2008, at the CAF (under NT), Pullman WA
6.	Snow density sampled in 2008 in CAF (under NT) and Clark Farm (under CT), (a)
	Average over the entire snow pack, (b) Incremental value with depth
7.	Soil water content in spring 2008 for NT (CAF) and CT (Clark Farm), averaged over
	each topographical locations

Introduction

Water availability is one of the major limiting factors affecting agricultural productivity (Sinai et al., 1981; Wright et al., 1990; Campbell, 1992; Afyuni et al., 1993). This is particularly true for the dryland farming regions of the Great Plain and the Pacific Northwest (PNW) where annual precipitation is generally between 25–60 cm. Zentner et al. (1993) reported that average spring wheat yield increased by 80 kg ha⁻¹ for a 1.3 cm increase in soil water storage from winter recharge in Saskatchewan, Canada, and the yield response to soil water increase doubled during years with dry growing season. In Northern Great Plains of the United States the yields of spring and winter wheat increased by 50–290 kg ha⁻¹ per 2.5-cm increment soil water stored over the winter recharge season (Johnson, 1964). To evaluate the relationship between available soil water and grain yield, Schllinger et al. (2006) conducted a study in eastern Washington between 1993 and 2005, and discovered that 6.4 cm of baseline soil water was required for vegetative growth of wheat and each 2.5 cm of above-baseline soil water produced 363.2 kg/ha grain.

Quantifying the relationship of wheat yield and soil water has been an on-going effort since the synthetic N fertilizer became widely available in 1940's (Pan et al., 2008) with the intention to recommend N fertilizer application rate for highest grain yield. Although such N fertility recommendation models are satisfactory on a regional scale, it is difficult to apply them for site-specific N management since a particular landscape is often featured with complex spatial variation of available soil water and organic matter (Pan et al., 2008). The spatial variation of soil water can have other important environmental and economic implications. Nutrient volatilization and leaching losses were found to be affected by spatial and temporal variation of soil water through various

physiochemical and biological processes (Fenn and Fossner, 1981; Fenn and Miyamoto, 1981; Fern, 1988; Liu et al., 2007). Studies also showed that greater spatial variations of available soil water caused greater variation of crop yield and crop quality associated with protein content (Daniels et al., 1987; Wright et al., 1990; Afyuni et al., 1993; Sadler et al., 1995; Bongiovanni et al., 2007; Huggins, 2008). Elevated protein content of wheat improves the crop quality and therefore increases the profitability (Jørgensen and Jørgensen, 2007; Bongiovanni et al., 2007).

The spatial variation of soil water may occur in many ways and are impacted by complicated site specific climatic, topographic, soil and management factors (Sinai et al., 1981; Afyuni et al., 1993). Pan et al. (2008) proposed several possible mechanisms, including uneven snow redistribution and accumulation due to over-winter drifting and melting. It is intuitive that soil water tends to derive from topographically high area and accumulate at topographically low area. Yet there is limited knowledge about how various management practices affect the spatial variation of soil water storage.

Studies indicated that, compared to conventional tillage (CT), no-tillage (NT) retained more soil water in the traditional winter wheat cropping regions of the Southern Plains (Dao, 1993; Sharpley and Smith, 1994; Baumhardt and Jones, 2002), in the inland PNW hilly dryland farming regions (Fuentes et al., 2003; Qiu et al., 2008), and in Canadian prairies (Cutforth and McConkey, 1997). CT practices, on the other hand, retained less soil water due in part to elevated surface runoff. Studies in the Southern Great Plains showed that CT practices could cause significant redistribution of precipitation with elevated surface runoff compared to conservation tillage (Sharpley and Smith, 1994; Shipitalo et al., 2000; Truman et al., 2003). McCool et al. (2006) compared several conservation tillage practices to the traditional control treatment, Continuous tilled bare fallow (CTBF), using 18 years of data, and reported that under the continuous NT winter wheat (WW/WW-

NT) practice, runoff was only 11.8% of that under the CTBF.

In the Northern Great Plains and Canadian Prairies snow accounts for 20–30% of the annual precipitation or 250–500 mm (McCool et al., 2003). In the Palouse region of the inland PNW, 50–70% of precipitation occurs during the primary period of soil water recharge from October to March (Oregon Climate Service, 2008). Snow accounts for nearly one-third of the total precipitation during this period (NCDC, Station # 456789, 2008a). Snow drifting is one of the important precipitation redistribution processes and wind-driven snow translocation was reported to create snow depths that vary by a factor of ten or more over short distances in Arctic tundra (Liston and Sturm, 1998). Factors influencing snow drifting include the wind field, topography, surface conditions (vegetation, crop residues, roughness from tillage) and precipitation (Liston and Sturm, 1998). Terrain with bush vegetation tends to hold more snow in place during the winter than bare ground. Increasing shrub abundance may increase snow depth by 10–25% in Arctic tundra (Liston and Sturm, 1998; Sturm et al., 2001; Sturm et al., 2005).

Similar to bush vegetation, the presence of surface residues, especially standing stubble, enhances snow capture in winter (Benoit et al., 1986; Cox et al., 1986). Snow depth and soil water were compared between strips with stubble heights of 39–60 cm and 15–20 cm over 10 years in Saskatchwan, Canada (Campbell et al., 1992). The treatment of high stubble resulted in an average of 10-cm greater snow depth and 16% greater water infiltration than the treatment with shorter stubble. Smika et al. (1966) reported based on a four-year study in Northern Great Plain that a field with standing residue trapped more snow and gained 5.2 cm soil water during the winter season, whereas a field with fall incorporation tillage lost 0.3 cm soil water on average in the 1-m soil profile due to less trapped snow. Similar results were also reported by others (Staple et al., 1960; Aase et al.,

1980; Nielsen, 1998).

Snow accumulation and snowmelt runoff can be an important water redistribution mechanism that impacts soil water recharge (Hiemstra et al., 2002). Attaining a better understanding of the factors that influence snow capture and retention in agricultural landscapes is important to evaluate the impacts of residue management practices on soil water storage and its spatial variation. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the impact of two contrasting tillage practices with different surface residue conditions, namely NT and CT, on snow accumulation and redistribution as well as the spatial variation of soil water storage on a field scale.

Methodology

Site description

The study was conducted on two adjacent farms located 10 km north of Pullman, WA: the Washington State University Cook Agronomy Farm (CAF), and the Clark Farm, a private farm. Both farms have hilly topography typical of the Palouse region with soils in the Palouse-Naff-Thatuna association consisting of Latah (Fine, mixed, mesic Xeric Argialbolls), Palouse (Fine-silty, mixed, mesic Pachic Ultic Haploxerolls), Thatuna (Fine-silty, mixed, mesic Xeric Oxyaquic Argialbolls), and Naff (Fine-silty, mixed, mesic ultic Argixerolls) silt loams (USDA NRCS, 2008). The CAF has been under continuous NT since 1999 with winter wheat harvested in the fall of 2007 immediately before the initiation of this study. Tillage history records prior to 2007 were not available for the Clark Farm but for the study period, the field was conventionally fall-tilled in 2007 leaving little surface residue or roughness.

A weather station was operated at the CAF during the study period, with precipitation, solar

radiation, air temperature, wind speed and direction measured in every 5-min but averaged and recorded in hourly interval.

Field snow monitoring and sampling

Field surveys of snow depth and snow density were conducted following several schemes. An extensive survey was first carried out on January 10, 2008 on a 25.6-ha field, including 12.0 ha located in the southeastern portion of the CAF and 13.6 ha along the northwest edge of the Clark Farm. This survey aimed to assess the spatial variation of snow across the topographical positions from valley to ridge top and from south- to north-facing slopes (Fig. 1). The overall aspects of the two farms were slightly different, with the Clark Farm having more south- to southwest- and northwest-facing slopes than the CAF exhibiting mainly south- and north-facing slopes (Fig. 1). Two smaller areas (4.4 and 4.1 ha in the CAF and Clark Farm, respectively), both south-facing and encompassing a ridge top, shoulder, and valley, were chosen for a series of detailed measurements of snow depth and density (Fig. 1). These two smaller areas contained very similar soils both with Naff silt loam soil at ridge tops and Palouse silt loam at south slopes. In addition, a snow survey was made along a ridge in the CAF where several tillage treatments resulted in different standing stubble heights. This survey was to determine the effects of residue height on snow holding capacity (Fig. 1). The timing of these surveys was illustrated in Fig. 2, together with fresh snow fall and on-the-ground snow depth as well as air temperature from a nearby National Climatic Data Center (NCDC) weather station (NCDC Station #456789, 2008a).

Stratified random sampling points were pre-determined from a GIS site map using the Hawth's tool extension in the ArcGIS software program (ESRI, Inc., 2007) for the survey of the larger field. The field was divided into 50 m×50 m grid by N–S and W–E transects, and a random location within

each grid was chosen by the GIS program, resulting in a total of 267 points for the two farms. The survey was conducted on January 10–11, 2008, by navigating an All-Terrain Vehicle (Ontario Drive and Gear Ltd., New Hamburg, Ontario, Canada) directed by a field GPS receiver to the predetermined sampling locations. A few points were mistakenly missed and the survey resulted in 260 snow depth observation points in total (111 in the CAF, 149 in the Clark Farm). Additionally, fiftytwo observation points (18 in CAF and 34 in Clark Farm) were added to capture the abrupt changes in snow depth in shoulder areas. These points were not used, however, for snow depth evaluation since they were not randomly chosen. The snow depth at each location was manually measured to the closest 0.5 cm using a ruler. Eighteen percent of the 260 points (47 points) were randomly selected using the aforementioned GIS program for snow-density measurements.

The majority of the snow-density samples were taken with a clear plastic tube (3.72 cm diameter) pushed to the bottom of the snow pack. Snow surrounding the tube was removed and the snow in the tube was carefully transferred into a labeled zip-closed plastic bag. Out of the 47 snow-density sampling points, five had a snow depth exceeding 0.7 m. For these points, multiple samples in 0.3-m intervals starting from the snow surface were taken at the middle of each interval using soil sample rings (4.75-cm diameter and 5.0 cm in height). The snow samples were allowed to melt at room temperature (23 °C) to obtain the snow water equivalent (SWE, the column height of the liquid water corresponding to the same diameter as the sampler) and the snow density was calculated as the ratio of the SWE to the measured snow depth. Three sampling locations at the Clark Farm were found bare and there was no snow for sampling.

Twenty-five sampling points on the CAF and 22 on the Clark Farm were randomly chosen for the two smaller south-facing areas using the same GIS program. Eight surveys of snow depth were

conducted via snow-shoeing during the period of January 28 to February 14, 2008; each survey lasted 4–8 hrs as weather permitted. The eight surveys captured one major snow event for the season (Fig. 2). Snow density sampling was also conducted in three out of the eight surveys.

The survey along the ridge top route was completed on Jan. 15, 2008 during a small snow event. Snow depth was observed at 50 points and snow density samples were taken from 13 locations (eight from south-facing, and five from north-facing, slopes).

Residue measurement

The height of standing residue was measured for all the observation points for snow depth within the large field, the smaller area, and the surveyed ridge top within the CAF. In addition, the amount of residue (separated into standing stubble and flat residue in the CAF, and grossly for the conventionally-tilled Clark Farm) was measured for the two smaller areas. The residue measurements were conducted during April 8–18 after the snow had melted and the field was accessible.

Soil water content sampling

The 47 points on the two smaller areas were sampled on May 13, 2008 to 1.5-m depth (unless an impenetrable obstruction was encountered) with a Giddings soil sampling machine (Giddings Machine Company, Windsor, CO) mounted on a John Deere 350 crawler. The soil cores were cut into 0.3-m pieces and each piece was taken as one sample. At the time of sampling, the Clark Farm had been tilled and the surface soil was dry. One extra sample within the top 5 cm was taken at each sampling location at the Clark Farm. The gravimetric soil water content was determined by measuring the weight of a soil sample prior to, and after, oven-drying at 105 °C for 24 hr and the weight of the soil can.

Statistics analysis

Non-parametric Wilcoxon rank-sum tests were performed using SAS (SAS Institute Inc., 2004) to determine differences in snow depth and soil water storage between the CT and NT treatments. These tests (significance level $\alpha = 0.05$) were made for data pooled by treatment or categorized by topographic position within a treatment, namely, ridge top, south- or north-facing slope, and valley. The Wilcoxon rank-sum test (nonparametric alternative to the two-sample *t*-test) was used due to the non-normal distribution of snow depth and soil water.

Results and Discussion

Snow depth and snow redistribution

The extensive snow depth survey conducted on January 10, 2008 revealed that the snow depth on the NT treatment (CAF) ranged 11–99 cm, averaging 29 cm with a standard deviation of 10 cm, whereas the snow depth on the CT treatment (Clark Farm) ranged 0–143 cm, averaging 22 cm with a standard deviation of 18 cm. The nonparametric Wilcoxon rank-sum tests indicated significant statistical differences between the two farms overall and for every topographic position except the north slope (Table 1). The shallower average snow depth on the CT treatment (22 cm vs. 29 cm in the NT) suggests that snow has drifted out of the Clark Farm to neighboring farms.

Snow pack was shallower on the ridge top and south-facing slopes and deeper on the north-facing slopes and valleys for both treatments (Table 1). The snow pack surveyed on January 10, 2008 was an accumulation from several snow falls with the first starting on January 6, and followed by another two on January 9 and 10 (Fig. 2). During the five-day period, wind blew dominantly from W or WSW with hourly average speed ranging from 4.5 to over 6.7 m s⁻¹ for nearly half of the time (insert

of Fig. 3). A NCDC weather station located 5 km south of the study site recorded similar wind directions, and, in addition, periodic gusts of $10.7-13.4 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ (NCDC, Station# 94129, 2008c). The dominant westerly wind tended to blow snow to the east-, north- and northwest-facing slopes where deeper snow was found for both the NT and CT fields (Fig. 3). The snow depth was much more variable in CT compared to NT (Fig. 3). A short period (2 hr) of NE and NNE wind at the speed of 4.5–6.7 m s⁻¹ recorded on January 9, 2008 was responsible for the snow accumulation on the southwest-facing slopes in the Clark Farm. Overall, the wind from W or WSW was slightly unfavorable to the snow accumulation in the Clark Farm since it had larger south-facing slope areas (Fig. 1). However, when comparing only south-facing slopes and ridge tops, we still found that the NT retained substantially more snow (by 10–12 cm) than the CT (Table 1). The ridge top area was always covered by snow in the NT but was oftentimes found bare in the CT at the time of maximum snow accumulation. These results corroborated the positive effects of standing residue on snow holding in the areas subject to snow drift. Much greater spatial variation of snow depth was found in the CT treatment, with a standard deviation of snow depth greater than that of the NT for every topographic location (Table 1).

The snow survey on the two smaller, south-facing slopes during January 28 to February 14, 2008 showed similar results. Ridge tops retained the least amount of snow and valley areas retained the thickest snow pack for both the CT and NT. However, snow depths were considerably shallower in all topographic locations (Fig. 4a,b) and the spatial variation was much greater in the CT than in the NT (Fig. 4c,d). At the maximum snow accumulation (Feb 4–9, 2008), the snow depth in the CT was 10–14 cm shallower on the ridge top and south-facing slope than in the NT. The last two observations on February 12 and 14, 2008 showed a much faster snowmelt in the CT due to its

shallower snow pack compared to the NT.

The greater snow drift in the CT could have several implications. First, the resultant greater spatial variation of snow depth may result in greater variation of cross-farm soil water, particularly, for the bare ridge top area, little snow would be available for recharging soil water through infiltration. Second, the excessive snow accumulation at certain areas of the CT, oftentimes a north-facing slope, would cause large snowmelt runoff as well as water erosion and agrochemical transport. Such phenomenon has indeed been observed in the CT fields in the Palouse region of the PNW (Greer et al., 2006; McCool et al., 2006). Third, lack of the insulation from the snow cover and residue layer in the CT can often result in prolonged duration of low soil temperature and frost responsible for injury of winter crops (Benoit et al., 1986; Cox et al., 1986). Consequently, patchy snow cover with variable depth in the CT may lead to variable soil temperature and frost depth across the field, thus delaying spring growth of crops in certain areas.

Snow holding capacity

Ridge tops are areas prone to snow drift regardless of wind direction as long as the wind speed reaches a certain threshold. Snow depths observed on the ridge top in the NT on January 15, 2008 indicated that the snow amount held in this field was closely related to the height of the standing stubble (Fig. 5a). That the snow depth was shallower than the residue height might be attributed to the relative small snow event with less snow on the ground compared to other events (Fig. 2).

Snow depths were also positively related to the residue height in the NT treatment for the event of January 10, 2008 (Fig. 5b). The snow depth (ranging 11–99 cm with an average of 29 cm) was mostly deeper than the residue height (ranging 9–33 cm with an average of 21 cm). This event was larger than the event on January 15, 2008, with a wind speed of $4.5-6.7 \text{ m s}^{-1}$. Snow depths on the

ridge top and south-facing slopes mostly followed the 1:1 line, and the snow holding capacity mirrored the residue height for a winter wheat residue structure with a row width of 25 cm and average standing residue of 159 g m⁻² in spring time.

In the Palouse region of the PNW, snow fall and melt are frequent throughout the winter. Historical records (NCDC Stations #456789 2008a and NCDC Station #106152, 2008b) indicated that 68–75% of snow-on-the-ground events lasted for less than five days and in 74–88% of the time when snow was on the ground, the snow depth was less than 21 cm (the average standing residue height observed in the CAF). Therefore, the snow holding capacity of the NT residue at the study site would not be fully filled most of the winter time. The snow held by the residue is potentially available for subsequent sublimation, melting and infiltration across the field, rather than drifting away to accumulate on shoulders or valley areas as in the CT treatment.

Snow density and SWE

Measured snow density of the snow pack exhibited high variation, with a range of 0.11-0.46 g cm⁻³ for all samples from five surveys (Table 2). Substantial variation of snow density has been reported in numerous previous studies. The density of freshly fallen snow was found to vary by one order of magnitude (Judson and Doesken, 2000; Kay, 2006). For the Palouse area of the PNW, the density of the new fallen snow mostly varied between 0.01 and 0.3 g cm⁻³ with a mode of 0.08 g cm⁻³ based on 36 years of climatic data for 1958–1993 (NCDC, Station# 456789, 2008a). Snow density is typically subject to continuous change affected by multiple factors throughout the processes of compaction, recrystallization and densification (Marshall et al., 1999; Kay, 2006).

There was no clear relationship between average snow density (when only profile-averaged density was sampled) and the overall thickness of snow pack (Fig. 6a), likely due to the complicated

process involving several snow events with drifting and melting. However, snow density did increase linearly with depth when incremental samples were taken (Fig. 6b).

There was also no definite association between average snow density and topographic locations although in two of the five surveys snow appeared to be denser on the north slope in the NT (Table 2). The two surveys in the NT on January 11 and 15, 2008 showed that average snow density between the north- and south-facing slopes was significantly different (*Z*-scores of -2.001 and 2.712, *P*-values of 0.007 and 0.045). A cold west wind (see Fig. 2 for air temperature) before the January 15, 2008 survey appeared to have caused the recrystallization of the snow on the north-facing slope and the formation of a crust on which one could walk during the survey, whereas snow on the south slope was puffy. The other surveys, however, showed relatively uniform snow density (0.19–0.22 g cm⁻³) across the NT (Table 2). The survey on the CT on January 11, 2008 also exhibited no difference between the north- and south-facing slopes (*Z*-score -0.423, *P*-value 0.672). In addition, the Wilcoxon rank-sum test for this survey indicated that there was no significant difference in average snow density between the two treatments of CT and NT (*Z*-score 1.714, *P*-value of 0.087).

SWE was the lowest on the ridge tops, and highest in the valleys and on the north-facing slopes for the two treatments regardless of surface residue conditions (Table 3). The range of the SWE, averaged for each topographic location (Table 3), was wider in the CT (1.1–18.1 cm) than in the NT (3.4–14.0 cm), indicating the greater spatial variation in the former. The Wilcoxon rank-sum tests did not detect significant difference in the mean SWE between the two treatments with data pooled or categorized by topographic positions with *Z*-score ranging from –1.04 to 1.64, and *P*-value ranging from 0.10 to 0.50.

Soil water and spatial variation

Soil sampling results showed that soil water was the lowest at ridge tops and increased through south-facing slopes to valley areas for both treatments (Table 4). Except for the valley, soil water was significantly higher in the NT than in the CT (Table 4). Soil water content in the valleys of the two treatments showed no significant difference (*Z*-score 0.42, *P*-value 0.68). Furthermore, soil water content had much smaller variation among topographic positions in the NT (-4.3% to 5.7% departure from average) than in the CT (-6.0 to 16.7% departure from average) (Table 4). In other words, more snow was deprived from the ridge top and slopes and then transported to other locations and, resulting in significant spatial variation of soil water in the CT.

Measurement of soil water along a 1.5-m profile further corroborated the larger spatial variation in soil water distribution in the CT. Soil water content along the whole vertical profile of the CT was significantly higher at the valley area than at the ridge top and south-facing slope (Fig. 7), and higher than the soil water content at all three locations of the NT except for the top soil layer (0–0.3m). Field observation revealed that ponding and surface runoff in the valley area due to snowmelt on the north-facing slope lasted much longer in the CT than in the NT. On the other hand, soil water under NT was relatively uniform at the 0.65–1.5 m depth among topographic locations (Fig. 7), and was higher in the south-facing slope and valley, compared to the CT. In addition, average soil water of additional surface soil samples taken at the Clark Farm was only 0.096 g g⁻¹, demonstrating that the surface soil under the CT was subject to considerably higher evaporative loss in early spring than in the NT (Fig. 7).

Summary and Conclusions

Snow depths in a series of snow survey events observed during the 2007–2008 winter season exhibited large spatial variation across the hilly field of two farms under NT and CT, respectively. The least amount of snow was found on the ridge top and south-facing slopes for both the NT and CT treatments since the dominant wind was from the west and southwest during the study period. On the ridge tops and south-facing slopes where snow was subject to the greatest drift, the NT field with a 9–33 cm standing stubble retained 10–12cm more snow for one event and 10–14 cm more snow for another, compared to the CT field. The CT field was often found bare, while this was not the case for the NT field. The snow depth was not significantly different between the two treatments on north-facing slopes where snow tended to accumulate. Snow depth was positively correlated to residue height and snow-holding capacity equaled to the residue height if there was enough snow.

The average density of the on-the-ground snow was highly variable across the field and did not appear to be associated with a particular topographic location, but increased with depth. SWE followed the same pattern of snow depth and was lower on the ridge top and south-facing slope and higher on north-facing slope and valleys. Spatial variation of SWE was greater in the CT than in the NT, although no statistical difference was found between the mean SWE of the two treatments.

Recharge of soil water in the spring was the lowest at the ridge tops, and highest in the valleys, yet such variation was much smaller in the NT (-4.3% to 5.7% departure from average) than in the CT (-6.0 to 16.7% departure from average). Although many factors may have contributed to the difference in spring soil water, we believe that, surface residue, especially standing residue, contributed to the high soil water storage and smaller spatial variation in the NT, likely through

enhanced snow holding, infiltration of rain and snowmelt and reduced evaporation from the ridge top and south-facing slope.

References

- Aase, J. K., and F. H. Siddoway. 1980. Stubble height effects on seasonal microclimate, water balance and plant development of no-till winter wheat. *Agric. Meterorol.* 21(1): 1–20.
- Afyuni, M. M., D. K. Cassel, and W. P. Robarge. 1993. Effect of landscape position on soil water and corn silage yield. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 57(6): 1573–1580.
- Baumhardt, R. L., and O. R. Jones. 2002. Residue management and tillage effects on soil-water storage and grain yield of dryland wheat and sorghum for a clay loam in Texas. *Soil Till. Res.* 68(2): 71–82.
- Benoit, G. R., S. Mostaghimi, R. A. Young, and M. J. Lindstrom. 1986. Tillage-residue effects on snow cover, soil water, temperature and frost. *Trans. ASAE*. 29(2): 473–479.
- Bongiovanni, R. G., C. W. Robledo, and D. M. Lambert. 2007. Economics of site-specific nitrogen management for protein content in wheat. *Comput. Electron. Agric.* 58(1): 13–24. doi:10.1016/j.compag.2007.01.018.
- Campbell, C. A., B. G. McConkey, R. P. Zentner, F. Selles, and F. B. Dyck. 1992. Benefits of wheat stubble strips for conserving snow precipitation in southwestern Saskatchewan. J. Soil Water Conserv. 47(1): 112–115.
- Campbell, C. A., R. P. Zentner, B. G. McConkey, and F. Selles. 1992. Effect of nitrogen and snow management on efficiency of water-use by spring wheat grown annually on zerotillage. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 72(3): 271–279.
- Cox, D. J., J. K. Larsen, and L. J. Brun. 1986. Winter survival response of winter-wheat-tillage and cultivar selection. *Agron. J.* 78(5): 795–801.

- Daniels, R. B., J. W. Gilliam, D. K. Cassel, and L. A. Nelson. 1987. Quantifying the effects of past soil erosion on the present productivity. *J. Soil Water Conserv.* 42(3): 183–187.
- Dao, T. H. 1993. Tillage and winter wheat residue management effects on water infiltration and storage. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 57(1): 1586–1595.
- ESRI, Inc. 2007. ArcGIS Ver. 9.1. Redlands, CA.
- Fenn, L. B., and L. R. Hossner. 1985. Ammonia volatilization from ammonia or ammoniumforming nitrogen fertilizers. In: Stewart, B. A. (Ed.) Adv. Soil Sciences. pp 123–169. Berlin: Springer.
- Fenn, L. B., and S. Miyamoto. 1981. Ammonia loss and associated reactions of urea in calcareous soils. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 45(3): 537–540.
- Ferm, M. 1998. Atmospheric ammonia and ammonium transport in Europe and critical loads: A review. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.* 51(1): 5–17.
- Fuentes, J. P., M. Flury, D. R. Huggins, and D. F. Bezdicek. 2003. Soil water and nitrogen dynamics in dryland cropping systems of Washington State, USA. *Soil Till. Res.* 71(1): 33–47.
- Greer, R. C., J. Q. Wu, P. Singh, and D. K. McCool. 2006. WEPP simulation of observed winter runoff and erosion in the U.S. Pacific Northwest. *Vadose Zone J*. 5(1): 261–272.
- Hiemstra, A. C., W. A. Reiners, and G. E. Liston. 2002. Spatial relationships between snow and ecosystem properties in a Wyoming alpine treeline ecotone: linking simulations and observations, presented at W. Snow Conf. 2002, May 20–23, 2002, Sol Vista, CO.

Huggins, D. R. 2008. Unpublished data.

- Johnson, W. C. 1964. Some observations on the contribution of an inch of seeding-time soil moisture to wheat yield in the Great Plains. *Agron. J.* 56(1): 29-35.
- Judson, A, and N. Doesken. 2000. Density of freshly fallen snow in the Central Rocky Mountains. Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc. 81(7): 1577–1587.
- Jørgensen, J. R., and R. N. Jørgensen. 2007. Uniformity of wheat yield and quality using sensor assisted application of nitrogen. *Precision Agric*. 8(1–2): 63–93.
- Kay J. E. 2006. Snow density observations in the washington cascades. Proc. 74th Ann. West. Snow Conf. April 17–20, 2006. Las Cruces, NM.
- Liston, G. E., and M. Sturm. 1998. A snow-transport model for complex terrain. *J. Glaciol.* 44(148): 498–516.
- Liu, G. D., Y. C. Li, and A. K. Alva. 2007. Moisture quotients for ammonia volatilization from four soils in potato production regions. *Water Air Soil Pollut*. 183(1): 115–127. DOI 10.1007/s11270-007-9361-9
- Marshall, H. P., H. Conway, and L. A. Rasmussen. 1999. Snow densification during rain. *Cold Regions Sci. Technol.* 30(1–3): 35–41.
- McCool, D. K., K. E. Saxton, and P. K. Kalita. 2006. Winter runoff and erosion on northwestern USA cropland. *ASABE Pap.* 06-2190, Am. Soc. Agric. Eng., St. Joseph, MI.
- National Climate Data Center. 2008a. NOAA station # 456789, Pullman 2 NW, WA, http://www4.ncdc.noaa.gov/cgi-win/wwcgi.dll?wwDI~StnSrch~StnID~20027538.

Accessed 2008.

- National Climate Data Center. 2008b. NOAA station #106152, Moscow U of I, ID, http://www4.ncdc.noaa.gov/cgi-win/wwcgi.dll?wwDI~StnSrch~StnID~10100229. Accessed 2008.
- National Climate Data Center. 2008c. NOAA station # 94194, Pullman Moscow Regional Airport, WA, <u>http://www4.ncdc.noaa.gov/cgi-win/wwcgi.dll?wwDI~</u> StnSrch~StnID~20027537. Accessed 2008.
- Nielsen, D. C. 1998. Snow catch and soil water recharge in standing sunflower residue. *J. Prod. Agric.* 11(4): 476–480.
- Nolan, B. T., R. W. Healy, P. E. Taber, K. Perkins, K. J. Hitt, and D. M. Wolock. 2003. Factors influencing ground-water recharge in the eastern United States, *J. Hydrol.* 332(1–2): 187– 205. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2006.06.029.
- Oregon Climate Service. 2008. PRISM Precipitation Maps of United States: 1961–90. http://www.wrcc.dri.edu/precip.html. Accessed 2008.
- Pan, W., W. Schillinger, D. Huggins, R. Koeing, and J. Burns. 2008. Fifty years of predicting wheat nitrogen requirements in the Pacific Northwest, USA. In Managing Crop Nutrition for Weather, edited, Pan, pp10-1–6
- Paulitz, T. C., H. Zhang, and R. J. Cook. 2003. Spatial distribution of Rhizoctonia oryzae and rhizoctonia root rot in direct-seeded cereals. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.* 25(3): 295–303.
- Qiu, H., J. Q. Wu, S. B. Wuest, G. N. Flerchinger, J. D. Williams, M. Flury, D. K. McCoold, andR. C. Greer. 2008. Effects of tillage and residue management on soil water and

temperature in dryland Pacific Northwest, USA. Soil Till. Res. (in review).

- Quinton, J. N., and J. A. Catt. 2004. The effects of minimal tillage and contour cultivation on surface runoff, soil loss and crop yield in the long-term Woburn Erosion Reference Experiment on sandy soil at Woburn, England. *Soil Use Manage*. 20(3): 343–349.
- Sadler, E. J., P. J. Bauer, and W. J. Busscher. 1995. Spatial corn yield during drought in the SE Coastal Plain. In P. C. Robert, R. H. Rust, and W. E., Larson (Eds.), Site-specific management for agricultural systems. pp. 365–382. Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy.
- Schillinger, W. F., S. E. Schofstoll, H. L. Schafer, and T. A. Smith. 2006. Relationship between available water and wheat grain yield. In 2006 Field Day Proceedings: Highlights of Research Progress. *Dept. Crop Soil Sciences Tech. Rep.* 06–2. Washington State Univ., Pullman,WA.
- Sharpley, A. N., and S. J. Smith. 1994. Wheat tillage and water-quality in the Southern Plains. *Soil Till. Res.* 30(1): 33–48.
- Shipitalo, M. J., W. A. Dick, and W. M. Edwards. 2000. Conservation tillage and macropore factors that affect water movement and the fate of chemicals. *Soil Till. Res.* 53(3-4): 167– 183.
- Sinai, G., D. Zaslavsky, and P. Golany. 1981. The effect of soil surface curvature on moisture and yield: Beer Sheba observation. *Soil Sci.* 132(5): 367–375. doi:10.1097/00010694-198111000-00007.
- Smika, D. E., and C. J. Whitfield. 1966. Effect of standing wheat stubble on storage of winter

precipitation. J. Soil Water Conserv. 21(4): 138-141.

- Staple, W. J., J. J. Lehane, and A. Wenhandt. 1960. Conservation of soil moisture from fall and winter precipitation. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 40(1): 80–88.
- Sturm, M., J. P. McFadden, G. E. Liston, F. S. Chapin, C. H. Racine, and J. Holmgren. 2001. Snow-shrub interactions in Arctic tundra: A hypothesis with climatic implications. J. *Climate*. 14(3): 336–344.
- Sturm, M., J. Schimel, G. Michaelson, J. M. Welker, S. F. Oberbauer, G. E. Liston, J. Fahnestock, V. E. Romanovsky. 2005. Winter biological processes could help convert arctic tundra to shrubland. *Biosci.* 55(1): 17–26.
- Truman, C. C., R. W. Reeves, J. N. Shaw, A. C. Motta, C. H. Burmester, R. L. Raper, and E. B. Schwab. 2003. Tillage impacts on soil property, runoff, and soil loss variations from a Rhodic Paleudult under simulated rainfall. *J. Soil Water Conserv.* 58(5): 258–267.
- USDA NRCS. 2008. Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) Database, Soil Data Mart. http://soils.usda.gov/survey/geography/ssurgo/. Accessed 2008.
- Wright, R. J., D. G. Boyer, W. M. Winant, and H. D. Perry. 1990. The influence of soil factors on yield differences among landscape positions in an Appalachian cornfield. *Soil Sci.* 149 (6): 375–382. doi:10.1097/00010694-199006000-00009.
- Zenter, B., C. Compbell, F. Seles, and B. McConkey. 1993. Benefits of enhanced snow trapping. *Agric. Can. Res. Newslett.* No. 8. Swift Current, SK.

ests
1 t
ca
sti
Ē
sta
σ
an
E
E.
Ϋ́
arl
Ë
Ξ
Ę
\mathbf{O}
he
dt
ŭ
$\tilde{\mathbf{C}}$
H
$\overline{\bigcirc}$
Ξ
E
Z
he
lt
io
g
Ň
Set .
ą
$\overline{\mathbf{O}}$
Ē
ં
Ч
ğ
de
3
0
ă
Sne

		NT			CT		Wilcoxon ra	ank-sum tests
	Range	Average	Std. dev	Range	Average	Std. dev	Z-score	<i>P</i> -value
South slope	21–37	28 (28) ^a	4	7–50	18 (50)	∞	6.03	<0.0001
Ridge top	11-32	23 (25)	5	0-22	11(33)	7	5.44	<0.0001
North slope	20–99	32 (32)	13	12–99	33 (33)	24	1.79	0.0742
Valley	21–67	33 (26)	10	12–143	28 (33)	22	3.66	0.0003
Overall	11–99	29 (111)	10	0-143	22 (149)	18	8.17	<0.0001

Shown in parentheses is the sample size

The range and mean of snow pack density $(g \text{ cm}^{-3})$ at different topographical locations of the NT (CAF) and CT (Clark Farm) treatments

Treatment	Observation time	Ridge top	South slope	Valley	North slope
СТ	Jan, 11, 2008	N/A	0.21-0.46	0.13-0.30	0.23-0.34
		0.40 (1) ^a	0.29 (6)	0.22 (6)	0.29 (8)
	Jan. 11, 2008	0.18-0.23	0.18-0.32	0.20-0.35	0.21-0.40
		0.21 (2) ^b	0.22 (7)	0.27 (5)	0.27 (10)
	Jan. 15, 2008		0.12-0.21		0.19–0.35
		NS ^c	0.15 (8)	NS	0.31 (5)
NT	Jan. 30, 2008	0.12-0.23	0.17-0.25	0.17-0.24	NS
		0.20 (11)	0.20 (9)	0.20 (5)	
	Feb. 2, 2008	0.13-0.22	0.14-0.23	0.13-0.23	NS
		0.20 (11)	0.19 (8)	0.19 (5)	
	Feb. 5, 2008	0.18-0.33	0.11-0.25	0.15-0.23	NS
		0.22 (11)	0.20 (6)	0.20 (5)	

^a Three of the four proposed sampling points were found bare and no snow samples were available.

^b Shown in parentheses is the sample size.

^c Not sampled.

Snow water equivalent (SWE, cm) at different topographical locations of the NT (CAF) and CT (Clark Farm) treatments

Treatment	Observation time	Ridge top	South slope	Valley	North slope
СТ	Jan. 11, 2008	1.1 (4) ^a	2.2 (7)	9.9 (5)	18.1 (9)
	Jan, 11, 2008	3.6 (2) ^b	3.4 (6)	6.6 (6)	14.0 (8)
NT	Jan. 30, 2008	4.4 (11)	5.9 (9)	6.5 (5)	NS ^c
-	Feb. 2, 2008	5.1 (11)	7.2 (8)	8.6 (5)	NS
-	Feb. 5, 2008	5.5 (11)	6.3 (6)	9.3 (5)	NS

^a Three out of four of proposed sampling locations were found bare of snow.

^b Shown in parentheses is the sample size.

^c Not sampled.

Gravimetric soil water in top 1.5 m soil and its spatial variations among different topographical locations of the NT (CAF) and CT (Clark Farm) treatments

		NT			СТ	
	Soil water	Std	CV (%) ^c	Soil water	Std	CV (%)
	(g g ⁻¹)	dev		(g g ⁻¹)	dev	
Ridge top	0.226 (11) ^a	0.016	-4.3	0.205 (5)	0.009	-6.0
South slope	0.240 (9)	0.025	2.0	0.208 (12)	0.009	-4.5
Valley	0.249 (5)	0.009	5.7	0.254 (5)	0.028	16.7
Average	0.236 (25)	0.021		0.218 (22)	0.025	

^a Shown in parentheses is the sample size.

^b Standard deviation

^c Spatial variation of soil water at a specific location was calculated by comparing with average water content, CV (coefficient of variation) = (soil water at specific location – average soil water)/average soil water ×100%.



Fig. 1 The snow survey areas and route at the NT (CAF) and CT (Clark Farm), Pullman, WA. The topographic contour interval is 2 m.



Fig. 2. Major snow-on-ground events in Palouse area (based on NCDC station # 456789, Pullman 2NW) and 11 field snow surveys of this study at CAF and Clark Farms, Pullman, WA, First and second survey were done for the larger domain. Third was for the ridge top route, and 4–11th were for the two smaller areas.



Fig. 3. Snow depth on Jan. 10 2008 in NT (CAF) and CT (Clark Farm), classified with mean $(25.1 \text{ cm}) \pm 0.5, 1.5, 2.5 \dots$ times of standard deviation (15.6 cm). The insert is the windrose based on data for Jan. 6–10, 2008 from the weather station installed at the CAF.



Fig. 4. Average snow depth observed during Jan. 29–Feb. 14, 2008 (a) under CT (Clark Farm), (b) under NT (CAF), (c) Departure of snow depth at ridge top and valley from the average for CT, (d) Departure of snow depth at ridge top and valley from the average for NT.







Fig. 6. Snow density sampled in 2008 in CAF (under NT) and Clark Farm (under CT), (a) Average over the entire snow pack, (b) Incremental value with depth.



Fig. 7. Soil water content in spring 2008 for NT (CAF) and CT (Clark Farm), averaged over each topographical locations.